RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN04-12-2016

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 16AP55CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Milwaukee County 10CF5217

Robert Mario Wheeler,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND POST-CONVICTION ORDER DENYING RELIEF, THE HONORABLE DENNIS FLYNN PRESIDING

Stephen M. Compton Attorney for Defendant-Appellant SBN 1018172 P.O. Box 548 Lake Geneva, WI 53147 (262) 729-6517

Smclawyer10@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the trial court violated the Defendant's due process rights in rendering a decision of guilty as to the felon in possession of a firearm without closing argument and prior to the return of the jury's verdict on the first degree reckless injury count.

Trial Court: No.

Whether the doctrine of retroactive misjoinder should apply under the facts of this case.

Trial Court: No.

Whether there is sufficient evidence to support the finding of guilt as to the felon in possession charge.

Trial Court: Not addressed.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Defendant, Robert Mario Wheeler, respectfully requests review of a Judgment of Conviction entered against him on December 12, 2011, the Honorable Dennis Flynn presiding, finding the Defendant guilty of Felon in Possession of a Firearm. The Defendant also seeks review of the Decision and Order Denying Motion for New Trial entered March 25, 2015. The Defendant asserts three points of error for this court's consideration. First, the Court erred in violating the Defendant's Due Process Rights in rendering a decision on Count 1 of the Information before the Jury had returned a verdict as to Count 2 and without allowing argument of counsel. Second, the doctrine of "retroactive misjoinder" is applicable in this case as evidence on the Recklessly Endangering the Safety of Another charge "prejudicially spilled over" as to the Felon in Possession of Firearm charge and impermissibly tainted the results on that charge. Third, the defendant asserts that there is insufficient evidence to support a conviction in this case. Therefore, the Defendant asserts that his conviction as to Count 1 should be vacated and a new trial be ordered.

This case has a long and tortured history. Robert Mario Wheeler was originally charged in October 2010 with a two-count complaint alleging Felon in possession of a Firearm and 1st Degree Reckless Injury. Following a year of preliminary proceedings the matter finally came to trial on October 24, 2011 before Reserve Judge Dennis Flynn. Wheeler, through his attorney, chose at this

time to waive his right to a jury trial as to Count 1 – the Felon in Possession of a

Firearm charge. The matter was addressed right before the jury was to be picked.

Defense counsel asserted, in relevant part:

So my proposal is that we, in a sense, bifurcate the trial. We will agree to waive our right to a jury trial on the charge of felon in possession of a firearm and just have this case proceed on the shooting charge, because the issue is identification, we are not disputing that the incident happened.

We are just saying it wasn't Mr. Wheeler who did it. So, after the jury renders its verdict, the Court having heard all the evidence, will - can then make its own determination as to felon in possession of a firearm.

I would suggest that if the jury find him not guilty of him being the shooter, then I would expect that the verdict on felon in possession of a firearm would be not guilty.

Transcript of Jury Trial, October 24, 2011, pp. 12-13. Accordingly, the court granted Wheeler's request for a Court Trial on that count. Transcript of Jury Trial, October 24, 2011, p. 16.

The Second Count – First Degree Reckless Injury – proceeded to jury trial over the next four days. The case centered around the identification of the Defendant as the perpetrator of gunshot wound to Charles Fisher on October 19, 2010. The testimony portion of the trial concluded after two days on October 26, 2011. The jury deliberated that evening and returned on October 27, 2011 to continue its deliberations. On that date the jury had several questions for the Court. The jury was not able to reach a verdict and was released for continuing deliberations the following day. Inexplicably, before releasing the jury on October 27, 2011, the Judge, sua sponte, chose to render a decision as to Count 1. The jury had yet to reach a decision as to Count 2 at this point. Again, this is important because the theory of the case in defense was simple – misidentification. If Wheeler was not the man who shot Charles Fisher on October 19, 2010, then he obviously did not possess a firearm at the time either. This follows logically from the fact that Mr. Fisher was in fact shot by someone with a gun. That fact was undisputed.

The Judge found Wheeler guilty of Count 1 – Possession of a Firearm by a Felon. Prior to this finding, the Judge asked for no closing arguments by counsel. No summation of the evidence as seen by either side. No recitation of the facts in evidence. Nothing. In fact, the Judge seemed rushed and impatient to reach a quick decision stating: "Because I have to be in another court on a very important matter tomorrow and can't be here, I am now going to make my decision in Count 1." Transcript of Jury Trial, October 27, 2011, p. 8. (R:110). What could be more important than the guilt or innocence of a man for a felony? And why the rush? The jury was still engaged in ongoing deliberations as to Count 2.

Interestingly, just before the Judge rendered his decision as to Count 1, he had re-read Criminal Jury Instruction 140 – Burden of Proof – to the jury following a question that it had regarding its deliberations. The judge noted in relevant parts: "The defendant is not required to prove his innocence", "The burden of establishing every fact necessary to constitute guilt is upon the State"

and "If you can reconcile the evidence upon any reasonable hypothesis consistent with the defendnat's innocence, you should do so and return a verdict of not guilty." Transcript of Jury Trial, October 27, 2011, pp. 5-6. (R:110). Despite these statements as to burden of proof, the judge went on to place all the evidence in the light most favorable to the State in rendering his decision as to the guilt of

Mr. Wheeler possessing a firearm.

The Judge's finding on this point is brief – indeed the summation of the

evidence by the judge takes up no more than 1 page of transcript:

Now I am going to note certain facts. Mr. Fisher identified the defendant as possessing a gun and shooting at him. (no cross exam).

Stephen Jackson similarly identified the defendant as possessing a gun and shooting at him. Ms. Buckner corroborated Mr. Fisher in IDing the defendant as a possible shooter of a handgun in her statement in terms of shortly after the event of the shooting event itself, Mr. Fisher identified to Ms. Buckner that the shooter was the defendant.

Similarly, Officer Busshardt corroborates Mr. Fisher, and then there is the testimony of Detective Dorava and it in terms of identification, the photographic arrays, he indicated that both Mr. Fisher and Mr. Jackson selected the defendant as a person who was the shooter.

Scientist Simonson established that all of the nine millimeter cartridges were fired from the same gun and that two of the bullets recovered were fired from the same gun barrel.

Defendant's sister, Nina Wheeler established that the defendant was contacted after there was a disagreement in her home and advised of Mr. Fisher's altercation with her, and of course the testimony from her then was that the defendant chose not to be involved in it, but she did establish that knowledge was possessed by the defendant of an altercation at the home of Ms. Nina Wheeler. Transcript of Jury Trial, October 27, 2011. (R:110, 10-11).

Less than 24 hours later, the court declared a mistrial due to the fact that the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict as to Count 2. The court noted: "That motion is granted and a mistrial is declared because of a hung jury because the jury has not been able to come to a decision after all of the information is presented by the parties, and the jury was instructed on the law, and the jury did spend a substantial amount of time deliberating, as Counsel pointed out, over a day and a half." Transcript of Jury Trial October 28, 2011, p. 6. The court then remanded Mr. Wheeler into the custody of the Milwaukee County Sheriff as to Count 1 and set the matter over for a sentencing on December 9, 2011. Defense counsel objected to the matter being set for sentencing prior to a determination as to the status of Count 2. The court overruled said objection.

On November 10, 2011, the parties appeared before Judge Charles f. Kahn, Jr. for a scheduling conference as to all matters. Defense counsel brought an objection to the matter proceeding to a sentencing the following month before Judge Flynn noting "I think that it wouldn't be appropriate to sentence without knowing what the verdict is as to the primary charge." Transcript of Scheduling Conference, November 10, 2011, p. 4. (R:112). Following some additional colloquy as to due process considerations and error as to Judge Flynn's finding of guilt, Judge Kahn instructed counsel to bring the matters before Judge Flynn prior

to sentencing. The remaining count was then set over for further proceedings on January 30, 2012.

On December 9, 2011, the parties appeared in court for sentencing before Judge Flynn. Defense counsel again objected to the sentencing proceeding at that time explaining "I haven't been able to get the transcripts that I wanted, but also I think it's appropriate that sentencing be done when the case is fully resolved so that the Court can be fully advised as to what the circumstances are." Transcript of Sentencing December 9, 2011, p. 3. The court denied the motion to adjourn on both counts and sentenced Wheeler to a maximum term of imprisonment of 6 years as to Count 1. The initial term of confinement in the Wisconsin Prison System was for 2 years with a maximum term of extended supervision not to exceed 4 years.

Following over 14 months of various court proceedings the case was set for a jury trial to be held on February 13, 2013. On that date the parties appeared before the Honorable J.D. Watts and the State made the following statement:

Your Honor, we are unable to proceed at this time. One of the citizen witnesses was unavailable – or not able to be located to be served with a subpoena on the last jury trial date.

Since that time, they have made a number of efforts to try to locate this person to serve this person. I believe, to a certain degree, he is avoiding service. In addition, he hasn't returned any of the Victim/Witness' phone calls, responded to any letters.

I would not be able to proceed without that person on this trial. In addition, I just learned today that one of the officers who was able to provide

a crucial bit of evidence is not available any longer to testify on this matter as well, which would have impacted my ability to proceed.

At this point in time, I do not believe this case is provable beyond a reasonable doubt, and I am not moving forward.

Transcript of Jury Trial, February 13, 2013, pp. 2-3 (R:120). The case was then dismissed. A motion for postconviction relief was subsequently brought and denied by the trial court on March 25, 2015. This appeal now follows.

ARGUMENT

 <u>The trial court violated the Defendant's due process rights in</u> rendering its decision of guilty as to the felon in possession of a firearm charge without closing argument and prior to the return of the jury's verdict on the first degree reckless injury count.

The first argument is one of due process. The Defendant asserts that a decision as to Count 1 was to be made AFTER the Jury Trial on Count 2 and AFTER both sides were given an opportunity to be heard as to what the evidence had shown as to the Felon in Possession of Firearm charge. Indeed, the trial court itself stated clearly and unequivocally on the record following the close of testimony: "So if we get whatever the verdict is, whether it is today or tomorrow, please don't let it end until you tell me, by the way, Judge, you're supposed to make a decision on the other count and I will , but it'll be after the jury has reached its verdict." Transcript of October 26, 2011, p. 135. (R:108:135) Neither of those things occurred in this case. Indeed, as set forth above, the Court, sua

sponte, rendered its decision on Count 1 prior to the jury's return on Count 2 and without any argument from counsel on the charge and in complete disregard of his own previously stated position that nothing would be decided until after the jury had returned its verdict.

A review of the trial transcript bears this point out. Defense counsel made a point of noting that Count 1 would only be considered by the Court "after the jury renders its verdict, the Court having heard all the evidence, will – can then make its own determination as to felon in possession of a firearm." Transcript of Jury Trial, October 24, 2011, p. 13. (R:98:13) There is nothing in the transcripts following this assertion to undercut the fact that the parties expected that a decision on Count 1 would be rendered only after the jury came back on Count 2. Indeed, the parties and the Court all understood that as of October 24, 2011, the Defendant was waiving his right to a jury trial as to the Felon in Possession of a Firearm, the State was waiving any right it had to a trial on that same issue, and the Court would decide the guilt or innocence of the Defendant on that issue after the jury returned a verdict on Count 2.

The jury trial on Count 2 ended in a mistrial. The jury was unable to reach a verdict as to whether Mr. Wheeler had recklessly endangered the safety of Mr. Fisher by shooting him. There is no dispute that Mr. Fisher was shot however. So, somebody carrying a gun on the evening of October 19, 2010 walked past a place where Mr. Fisher was present, pointed the gun in his direction and opened

fire hitting him at least once. The jury hearing this evidence, however, could not unanimously agree that Mr. Wheeler had been the perpetrator of the crime. It is hard to imagine a scenario where the same evidence at the jury trial could lead to a conclusion that Mr. Wheeler possessed a gun if he was not found guilty of having shot Mr. Fisher. This is why it was critical for the Court to wait and allow the jury to speak first before rendering its decision. What makes this fact even more critical is that the State ultimately declared in open court that it could not prove its case as to the Reckless Injury charge beyond a reasonable doubt. Indeed, that charge was dismissed. (R:120).

Compounding the problem is the fact that the Court chose to render its decision in a hurry without the benefit of any argument of counsel summarizing the evidence as it related to the Felon in Possession of Firearm charge. As noted above the court's decision was essentially a page of transcript and began with a very troubling statement – "Because I have to be in another court on a very important matter tomorrow and can't be here, I am now going to make my decision in Count No. 1." Transcript of Jury Trial, October 27, 2011, p. 8. It is respectfully asserted that the matter before the court – the guilt or innocence of the defendant as to a felony – was incredibly important, certainly to Mr. Wheeler. His freedom was at stake. He was facing potential incarceration. For the court to rush through judgment on this very important issue is not only unfair but impermissible. Most importantly, the record reveals that the Court was in fact

available the following day and was actually present when the matter was declared a mistrial. See Transcript of Jury Trial, October 28, 2011. (R:111).

Substantive and procedural due process rights emanate from the Fourteenth Amendment. See Wis. Const. art I, sec 8. Substantive due process protects individuals against governmental actions that are arbitrary and wrong, "regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them. <u>Penterman v.</u> <u>Wisconsin Elec Power</u>, 211 Wis.2d 458, 480, 565 N.W.2d 521 (1997). Moreover, it forbids a government from exercising "power without any reasonable justification in the service of a legitimate governmental objective." <u>County of</u> <u>Sacremento v. Lewis</u>, 523 U.S. 833, 846 (1998). Procedural due process protects individuals from governmental "denial of fundamental procedural fairness." Id. at 845-46. A person complaining of due process violations must show a deprivation by the state of a constitutionally protected interest in life or liberty. Id.

Here, there is no dispute but that Mr. Wheeler has demonstrated that he has been deprived of his liberty interest. His right to be free and not incarcerated was directly at stake during this proceeding. The Court's premature decision as to Count 1 violated Mr. Wheeler's right to be free as he was sentenced on that count to a six year sentence restraining his freedom in every way. The Court's decision in this was arbitrary and wrong and thus violates Mr. Wheeler's substantive due process rights. The court was obligated to wait until the jury had rendered its verdict and then rule. With no jury finding that Mr. Wheeler had shot at Mr.

Fisher it follows that he did not possess a firearm at the same time. Again, Mr. Fisher was shot by somebody – but the jury could not determine that it was by the hand of Mr. Wheeler and the State subsequently determined that it could NOT present evidence that would ever convict Mr. Wheeler of the crime of recklessly endangering the safety of Mr. Fisher.

The procedural due process violation in this case is grounded upon the notion that a defendant should not be denied fundamental procedural fairness. Again there is no question that Mr. Wheeler was deprived of his conticutionally protected interest in liberty. Moreover, the Court's action sin this case demonstrate fundamental unfairness in procedure. The court rushed to judgment prior to waiting for the jury verdict. The Court did not follow the procedures that had been set for determining the guilt or innocence on Count 1 prior to the start of the trial and agreed upon by the parties. And finally, the Court never entertained any closing argument by counsel.

These violations of both substantive and procedural due process require that the Judgment of Conviction in this matter be vacated and that a new trial be granted.

2. <u>Retroactive misjoinder should apply under the facts of this case.</u>

The second point of error in this case is that of "retroactive misjoinder." The doctrine of retroactive misjoinder arises where joinder of multiple counts was proper initially, but later developments such as a trial court's dismissal of some

counts for lack of evidence render the initial joinder improper. State v. McGuire, 204 Wis. 2d 372, 379, 556 N.W.2d 111 (Ct. App. 1996)(citing United States v. Vebeliunas, 76 F.3d 1283 1293 (2d Cir. 1996). "In order to invoke "retroactive misjoinder," a defendant must show "compelling prejudice." Prejudicial spillover from evidence used to obtain a conviction subsequently reversed on appeal may constitute compelling prejudice." Id. at 1294. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals ultimately adopted the three-factor analysis as set forth in Vebeliunas for determining whether a defendant shows compelling prejudice arising from the evidence introduced to support the vacated or dismissed counts. McGuire, 204 Wis. 2d at 379. "(1) whether the evidence introduced to support the dismissed count is of such an inflammatory nature that it would have tended to incite the jury to convict on the remaining count; (2) the degree of overlap and similarity between the evidence pertaining to the dismissed count and that pertaining to the remaining count; and (3) the strength of the case on the remaining count. Id.

Here, the first point worth noting is that the trier of fact on the "remaining" count was not a jury but the Court. It is hard to see how this could possibly defeat a full consideration of the issue. The Court is the trier of fact and serves the same purpose as a jury in terms of considering a defendant's innocence or guilt.

As to the three-part analysis, the Defendant asserts that he has met all three criteria and, therefore, his conviction on Count 1 must be vacated.

First, there can be little argument but that the evidence introduced to support the dismissed count is of such an inflammatory nature that it would have tended to incite the Judge to convict on the Felon in Possession of Firearm charge. The evidence was unbelievably inflammatory. Mr. Fisher testified that he was shot in the chest and the bullet went completely through his chest. Transcript of Jury Trial, October 25, 2011, p. 27. He testified that he then fell to the ground. <u>Id</u>. He then stood up and realized that he was bleeding and required medical assistance. <u>Id</u>.

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