### RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-13-2016** 

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP0055-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT MARIO WHEELER,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS J. FLYNN, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State charged Wheeler with first degree reckless injury and possession of a firearm by a felon.<sup>1</sup> (2.) To avoid the prejudice that might arise if the jurors knew about Wheeler's prior felony conviction, Wheeler waived his right to a jury trial on the felon in possession charge. (98:12, 15-16.) Wheeler understood that the jury's decision on the reckless injury charge would not bind the circuit court when it decided the felon in possession charge. (98:13-14.)

While the jury deliberated on the reckless injury charge, the circuit court found Wheeler guilty of the felon in possession charge. (110:8-14.) The circuit court declared a mistrial after the jury deadlocked. (111:6.) The State later dismissed the reckless injury charge when witness issues prevented it from retrying that charge. (121:2-3.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State will refer to the charge of first degree reckless injury as the "reckless injury" charge and the possession of a firearm by a felon charge as the "felon in possession" charge.

Wheeler raises three claims on appeal. First, he argues that the circuit court violated his substantive and procedural due process rights when it decided the felon in possession charge without the opportunity for a closing argument and before the jury reached a verdict on the reckless injury charge. Wheeler's Br. 11-15. The circuit court did not violate Wheeler's due process rights. It provided Wheeler with a meaningful time and opportunity to present his case. The circuit court did not reach its verdict in an arbitrary way. Instead, it decided the felon in possession charge based on the evidence presented at trial.

Wheeler did not object when the circuit court issued its decision without the opportunity for a separate closing argument on the felon in possession charge. By failing to object, Wheeler forfeited his right to raise this claim. Wheeler also forgets that he made a closing argument to the jury on the reckless injury charge and that the circuit court considered that closing argument when it decided the felon in possession charge. (83:2.)

Second, Wheeler contends that the doctrine of retroactive misjoinder should apply and that he should receive a new trial on the felon in possession charge. He asserts that the evidence presented to the jury on the reckless injury charge prejudiced Wheeler in his bench trial on the felon in possession charge. Wheeler's Br. 15-20. Retroactive misjoinder does not apply to his case. Once Wheeler waived his right to a jury on the felon in possession charge, the two charges were not joined for trial before the same factfinder. Further, Wheeler cannot demonstrate that the evidence that the circuit court heard during the jury trial so prejudiced the circuit court that he is entitled to a new trial on the felon in possession charge. Third, Wheeler challenges the sufficiency of the evidence that the State offered in support of the felon in possession charge. Wheeler's Br. 20-23. The record reflects that the circuit court carefully weighed the evidence and considered Wheeler's defense before it found Wheeler guilty. (110:8-13.) As the State will demonstrate, the evidence supports the circuit court's guilty verdict.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not deny Wheeler due process when it entered a verdict on the felon in possession of a firearm charge without a separate closing argument and before the jury decided the first degree reckless injury charge.

Wheeler raises both procedural and substantive due process challenges to the circuit court's guilty verdict on the felon in possession of a firearm charge. His primary complaint focuses on the circuit court's decision to enter a guilty verdict on the felon in possession charge before the jury had reached a verdict on the reckless injury charge. Wheeler also argues that the circuit court deprived him of an opportunity to make a closing argument on the felon in possession charge even though he made a closing argument on the reckless injury charge. Wheeler's Br. 11-15. As the record demonstrates, the circuit court's actions violated neither Wheeler's substantive nor procedural due process rights.

#### A. Procedural background related to Wheeler's due process challenge.

The State charged Wheeler with first degree reckless injury and felon in possession of a firearm. (2:1.) The charges arose out of an incident in which the victim, C.F., alleged that Wheeler shot him. (2:2.) Before trial and through his counsel, Wheeler expressed concern that the jury would learn about his felony status as it related to a charge of felon in possession of a firearm. He asked the circuit court to bifurcate the trial with the jury deciding the reckless injury charge and the circuit court deciding the possession of a firearm charge. (98:12.) Wheeler did not dispute that the incident occurred, but asserted that the issue was one of identification as to both charges. (98:13.) Trial counsel explained:

We are just saying it wasn't Mr. Wheeler who did it.

So, after the jury renders its verdict, the Court having heard all the evidence, will—can then make its own determination as to felon in possession of a firearm.

I would suggest that if the jury find him not guilty of him being the shooter, then I would expect that the verdict on the felon in possession of a firearm would be not guilty.

If the jurors find him guilty of being the shooter, then I would expect that he would be found also guilty of felon in possession of [a] firearm.

(98:13.)

The prosecutor consented to the jury waiver. (98:15.) But he observed that the jury's verdict would not bind the circuit court. Wheeler's counsel agreed: "I agree with [the prosecutor] that Your Honor does not have to be bound by the jury's verdict in theory. I agree and I am mindful of that possibility." (98:14.). Following a colloquy with Wheeler, the circuit court found that Wheeler had freely, voluntarily, and knowingly waived his right to a jury trial on the felon in possess charge. (98:15-16). Following closing arguments, the circuit court asked the parties to remind it to decide the felon in possession of the firearm count. It stated, "[B]ut it'll be after the jury has reached its verdict." (108:135.) The circuit court asked the parties if they disputed Wheeler's felony status. Trial counsel responded that the parties had stipulated that the element of a prior felony conviction had been met. (108:135.)<sup>2</sup>

A day later, the jury still had not reached a verdict and the circuit court released it for the evening. (110:13.) Because the circuit court anticipated that it would not be available the following day, it decided the felon in possession of a firearm charge. (110:8.) The circuit court reviewed the evidence in light of the offense's elements. Based on the parties' stipulation, it found that Wheeler had a felony conviction. (110:8-9.) The circuit court then focused its attention on the element of possession. It reviewed the witnesses' testimony that resulted in their identification of Wheeler as the shooter and found it "to be both credible and believable." (110:10-11). It also rejected Wheeler's theory of defense that the witnesses had mistakenly identified Wheeler as the shooter. (110:11-12.) The circuit court then found beyond a reasonable doubt that Wheeler possessed a firearm as a convicted felon as alleged in the complaint and information. (110:12.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The stipulation has been marked and received as an exhibit. (25:3, ex. 47). The exhibits are not part of the record, but this Court should assume that they support the circuit court's guilty verdict. See State v. McAttee, 2001 WI App 262, ¶ 5 n.1, 248 Wis. 2d 865, 637 N.W.2d 774 ("It is the appellant's responsibility to ensure completion of the appellate record and when an appellate record is incomplete in connection with an issue raised by the appellant, we must assume that the missing material supports the trial court's ruling") (citation and quotations omitted).

Wheeler never asked to make a separate closing argument on the felon in possession charge. And he never objected to the circuit court's decision to enter a verdict prior to the jury's decision on the reckless injury charge. (110:8-14.)

The following day, the jury returned to deliberate on the first degree reckless injury charge. (111:1.) The jury remained deadlocked and the circuit court declared a mistrial. (111:6.) Over a year later, the State moved to dismiss the reckless injury count when it determined that the witnesses necessary to prove the case were unavailable. (121:2-3.)

## B. General legal principles related to due process claims.

"The Due Process Clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions protect both substantive and procedural due process rights." *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 74, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592 (citations and quotations omitted).

Substantive due process protects against arbitrary, wrongful, or oppressive government action. It forbids the government's "exercise[e of] power without any reasonable justification in the service of all legitimate governmental objective[s]." Id. (citations and quotations omitted). State conduct violates substantive due process "if the conduct shocks the conscience . . . or interferes with rights implicit in the concept of ordered liberty." State ex rel. Greer v. Wiedenhoeft, 2014 WI 19, ¶ 57, 353 Wis. 2d 307, 845 373, reconsideration denied subN.W.2d nom.. Greer v. Wiedenhoeft, 2014 WI 50, 354 Wis. 2d 866, 848 N.W.2d (internal 861) quotations omitted). "[O]nly the most egregious executive action can be said to be arbitrary

in the constitutional sense." *County of Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833, 845 (1998) (internal quotations omitted).

Procedural due process requires that the government provide an "opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoted source omitted). Under a procedural due process analysis, a court must determine: (1) whether the government's action has deprived the person of a liberty interest; and (2) whether the government used constitutionally sufficient procedures to deprive the person of his or her interest. *State v. Alger*, 2015 WI 3, ¶ 39 n.15, 360 Wis. 2d 193, 858 N.W.2d 346.

#### C. The circuit court's actions did not deprive Wheeler of either his substantive or procedural due process rights.

The State agrees with Wheeler that the circuit court's guilty verdict on the felon in possession charge had an impact on his liberty interest. Wheeler's Br. 14. But the circuit court's entry of a guilty verdict alone does not automatically trigger a due process violation.

Wheeler's substantive due process claim. Wheeler has simply failed to articulate how the circuit court's verdict undermined his substantive due process rights. He has identified nothing egregious about the circuit court's conduct that rendered it arbitrary in a constitutional sense.

Wheeler asserts that the circuit court should have waited for the jury's verdict on the reckless injury charge before deciding the felon in possession charge. Wheeler's Br. 13. The circuit court was under no obligation to do so. By waiving the right to a jury, Wheeler agreed to allow the circuit court to decide his guilt on the felon in possession charge. Based on the discussion between trial counsel and the prosecutor, Wheeler knew that the jury's verdict would not bind the circuit court's determination on the felon in possession charge. (98:14.) So it made no difference if the circuit court decided the felon in possession charge before or after the jury reached its verdict.

Wheeler also ignores other factors that arose after jury deliberations began. First, the jury deliberated for an entire day without a verdict. The circuit court anticipated that it would be unavailable the following day. (110:8.) It decided to render its verdict, and Wheeler did not object. (110:8-13.)

Second, Wheeler overlooks the obvious. The jury never reached a verdict on the reckless injury charge. The jury was deadlocked and the circuit court declared a mistrial. (111:3-6.) Neither the parties nor the circuit court anticipated a mistrial. But the mistrial on the reckless injury count would not have deprived the circuit court of its authority or responsibility to decide the felon in possession charge.

Finally, the circuit court's actions hardly constitute egregious official conduct in the due process sense. It did what circuit courts regularly do when deciding cases. It discussed the offense's elements. It identified the key witness testimony. It weighed the evidence. It considered Wheeler's theory of defense. And it found Wheeler guilty of felon in possession of a firearm. (110:8-13.) The circuit court would have used the same process had it waited until after the jury decided the reckless injury charge. Wheeler is unable to identify anything arbitrary, wrongful, or oppressive about the process that the circuit court used to find him guilty. Wheeler has not demonstrated that the circuit court violated his substantive due process rights. Wheeler's procedural due process claim. The circuit court provided Wheeler with a meaningful opportunity to be heard and did so in a meaningful manner. The circuit court did nothing to foreclose Wheeler's trial rights. It allowed him to present his case. As demonstrated by how it handled objections during closing arguments (108:97-98, 116, 118, 123), the circuit court listened to the parties' arguments on the reckless injury charge. The circuit court had the benefit of this closing argument to the jury when it decided the felon in possession charge. (83:1-2.) Wheeler did not request to make a separate closing argument on the felon in possession charge and he did not object when the circuit court issued its decision. The circuit court used constitutionally sufficient procedures to deprive Wheeler of his liberty interest.

D. The circuit court considered Wheeler's closing argument on the related charge and, in any event, he forfeited his right to make a closing argument on the felon in possession charge.

Wheeler suggests that the circuit court's failure to allow him to present a closing statement violated his due process rights. Wheeler's Br. 15. The right to present a closing argument actually relates to a defendant's Sixth Amendment trial right to present a defense. *Herring v. New York,* 422 U.S. 853, 856-58 (1975). In *Herring,* the trial court denied the defendant the opportunity to make a closing argument despite his affirmative request to make one. *Id.* at 856. "[T]he total denial of the opportunity for final argument in a nonjury criminal trial is a denial of the basic right of the accused to make his defense." *Id.* at 858-59. But the Supreme Court also recognized that a defendant may waive his or her right to make a closing argument. *Id.* at 860. For two reasons, the circuit court's entry of a guilty verdict on the felon in possession of a firearm charge without a separate closing statement on that charge did not violate Wheeler's right to present a defense. First, Wheeler actually made a closing argument to the jury on a companion reckless injury charge. Wheeler argued that he did not shoot or possess the firearm that resulted in the injury, but that someone else discharged the weapon that injured C.F. (108:88, 90, 99-100.) In requesting a bench trial on the felon in possession charge, Wheeler believed that by convincing the jury that he was not guilty of first degree reckless injury, he was not guilty of felon in possession of a firearm. (98:13.)

When the circuit court decided the felon in possession charge, it already had the benefit of Wheeler's closing argument on the reckless injury charge. Wheeler has not identified any additional arguments that he would have made with respect to the possession of the firearm charge that he had not already presented to the jury on the reckless injury charge.<sup>3</sup> So unlike *Herring*, Wheeler made a closing argument related to his core claim that witnesses misidentified him as the person who possessed the firearm and whose discharge of the firearm injured C.F. (108:99-100.) In denying his postconviction motion, the circuit court acknowledged hearing "closing arguments with regard to the entire incident." (83:2.)

Second, Wheeler neither asked to make a closing argument on the felon in possession charge nor did he object when the circuit court discussed the evidence and reached

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wheeler did not dispute the element that he had a prior conviction. Wheeler stipulated to this element (108:135), so the only issue the circuit court had to decide was whether Wheeler possessed the firearm that resulted in the reckless injury.

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